

The State of Immigration Reform

By Kristen Ellingboe and Anna Perina December 2015

WWW.AMERICANPROGRESSACTION.ORG



The State of Immigration Reform

By Kristen Ellingboe and Anna Perina December 2015

Contents

1 Introduction and summary

2 Problems caused by a lack of immigration reform

- 2 Separating families
- 3 Depriving the nation of economic gains

5 Overview of the conservative response

- 5 Obstructing progress
- 6 Pursuing restrictionist policies

9 Progressive solutions for immigration reform

- 9 Federal solutions
- 13 State progress

16 Conclusion

17 About the authors and acknowledgments

18 Endnotes

Introduction and summary

It is no secret that the racial and ethnic makeup of the American electorate is changing rapidly. By the 2016 election, communities of color will make up 32 percent of all eligible voters in the United States.¹ This increasingly rapid demographic change means politicians at every level of government must address with public policy the challenges and opportunities facing all Americans.

One of these challenges is the need for comprehensive immigration reform. The majority of Americans—69 percent—think unauthorized immigrants who are living in the United States should be allowed to stay in the country, according to a recent CBS News and *New York Times* poll.² Yet congressional lawmakers have failed to move forward on comprehensive immigration reform. The failure of lawmakers to prioritize a long-term solution to the challenges facing the U.S. immigration system means that more than 11 million unauthorized immigrants are forced to stay on the economic sidelines while families continue to be separated.³

Instead of providing a sensible solution that would give unauthorized immigrants legal status and a pathway to citizenship—the progressive approach to immigration reform, which would boost the economy—the conservative response frequently demonizes and attempts to criminalize immigrants, all while predominantly opposing any positive action altogether.⁴

This report details the current state of immigration reform by laying out the problems facing the unauthorized immigrant community, outlining the conservative response to the immigration system, reviewing progressive solutions for reform, and providing a state-by-state breakdown of the economic impact of comprehensive immigration reform.

Problems caused by a lack of immigration reform

The failure to address the challenges of the immigration system has far-reaching consequences—not only for immigrant communities, but also for the nation overall. Overzealous immigration enforcement and hard-line deportation strategies are tearing families apart, affecting American citizens and legal migrants alike. Furthermore, without comprehensive immigration reform, millions of unauthorized workers are not able to fully participate in the economy, hurting those workers and their families, as well as the economy as a whole.

Separating families

One of the most immediate consequences of the current immigration system is the separation of immigrant families. Hardline immigration enforcement and deportation policies are breaking up millions of families and countless communities, leaving families struggling and immigrant communities living in a culture of fear.⁵ When families are divided, many parents are forced to become single parents and struggle to make ends meet.⁶ In even worse scenarios, U.S.-born children of unauthorized parents may be forced into foster care when their parents are deported.⁷ In addition to physically separating families, these enforcement and deportation policies create a culture of fear of family separations among immigrant communities, which hurts police-community relationships and erodes trust.⁸

Over the past decade, aggressive deportation strategies have resulted in the removal and return of more than 3 million immigrants.⁹ While the number of deportations has been dropping steadily over the past few years, nearly 316,000 immigrants were deported in fiscal year 2014 alone.¹⁰ And currently, 16.6 million people live in mixed-status families—families with at least one unauthorized immigrant—and one-third of all U.S. children of immigrants live in these families.¹¹ Additionally, according to a 2013 estimate, unauthorized immigrant adults have been in the United States for a median time of almost 13 years. That means at least half of the entire unauthorized population has spent at least that long becoming involved in their communities and in the U.S. economy as a whole.¹²

Having citizen children or even being the primary breadwinner for citizen children, however, does not ensure protection from deportation. As of November 2014, 4.3 million people were waiting for family-based visas in the United States.¹³ And according to Colorlines, 204,810 parents of U.S. children were removed from the country between July 1, 2010, and September 31, 2012.¹⁴ The removal of those parents accounted for nearly 23 percent of all individuals deported during that period; that estimate is likely low, as many parents are reluctant to admit they have children in the country.¹⁵ Family separations create stress and anxiety among immigrant communities, which takes a toll on the entire country.

Depriving the nation of economic gains

The failure to implement comprehensive immigration reform also deprives the nation of a needed economic boost. The millions of unauthorized immigrants who are currently living and working in the United States are already participating in the nation's economy. But the vast majority of unauthorized workers are not able to participate fully in the economic system. A comprehensive immigration reform plan that would allow everyone to work on an even playing field would also increase tax revenue and lead to higher wages for all workers. This would lead to better jobs and increased spending throughout the entire economy.

Unauthorized immigrants are already contributing to the economy by working and paying taxes, but comprehensive immigration reform would allow them to increase their contribution to the U.S. economy.¹⁶ In 2012, the most recent year for which data are available, unauthorized immigrants paid an estimated \$11.84 billion in state property and sales taxes, which fund schools, police and fire stations, roads, and other public services.¹⁷ Reforming the immigration system would only increase these contributions. By allowing unauthorized immigrants to earn legal status, their bargaining power would increase, and they would become better equipped to contest an unlawful termination of employment, negotiate for fair compensation, and file a complaint if they believe they are being mistreated or abused.¹⁸ These worker protections would lead to higher wages for both immigrants and nonimmigrants, which would benefit all workers who are otherwise at risk of being undercut. The protections would spread throughout the entire economy, increasing tax revenue, expanding the nation's gross domestic product, or GDP, and creating jobs.¹⁹ According to a 2013 analysis by the Center for American Progress, providing a pathway to citizenship for unauthorized immigrants would

result in an additional \$109 billion in taxes paid over 10 years.²⁰ A more recent analysis also found that creating a pathway to citizenship would increase U.S. GDP by \$1.2 trillion over 10 years, increasing the cumulative income of Americans by \$625 billion.²¹

Similarly, under the current system, millions of unauthorized workers are already paying into Social Security and Medicare, supporting the aging U.S. population without reaping the benefits. And just as comprehensive immigration reform would benefit the entire economy, it also would lead to huge gains to Social Security and Medicare, helping support the solvency of both programs.²²

Simply put, the failure to reform the immigration system is leaving money on the table. Allowing immigrants to work on an even playing field would allow them to contribute even more to the economy than they are already.

Overview of the conservative response

Despite the negative consequences of inaction on immigration reform, political leaders have failed to advance sensible solutions for the nation's immigration system. At the federal level, congressional leaders have obstructed attempts to pass long-term comprehensive immigration reform, instead considering only piecemeal anti-immigrant bills.²³ Meanwhile, at the state level, conservative lawmakers have proposed measures to demonize local immigrant communities and obstruct the implementation of positive immigration reforms.²⁴

Obstructing progress

In June 2013, the Senate passed a broadly supported, bipartisan comprehensive immigration reform bill: the Border Security, Economic Opportunity, and Immigration Modernization Act, or S. 744.²⁵ The bill sought to modernize and reform the American immigration system by updating the legal visa system, making the largest investments in border security to date, and providing a pathway to citizenship for unauthorized immigrants. But despite the Senate's success, the House of Representatives failed to consider this historic bill or any other immigration reform plan.²⁶

Since then, the progress for passing comprehensive immigration reform has stalled indefinitely. New House Speaker Paul Ryan (R-WI) recently said in a series of interviews that he would not work with the Obama administration on immigration policy. "Look, I think it would be a ridiculous notion to try and work on an issue like this with a president we simply cannot trust on this issue," he said in an interview with CBS's "Face the Nation."²⁷ He also signed a letter promising members of his party that he would not bring immigration legislation to the House floor during this congressional session.²⁸

Since former Rep. John Boehner (R-OH) took over as House Speaker in 2011, the immigration debate in Congress has centered on piecemeal legislation in the form of enforcement-only bills and attempts to stall the president's executive actions.²⁹

In the absence of federal legislative action, President Barack Obama introduced executive actions on immigration in November 2014.³⁰ The immigration directives include expanding Deferred Action for Childhood Arrivals, or DACA, and introducing Deferred Action for Parents of Americans and Lawful Permanent Residents, or DAPA. These two actions would give more than 5 million unauthorized individuals temporary legal protections, shielding them from deportation and allowing those with no criminal record to work legally in this country.³¹ Congress has attempted to block the implementation of the president's directives numerous times since their introduction.³² In December 2014, Speaker Boehner presided over a vote on a bill sponsored by Rep. Ted Yoho (R-FL) that would make the president's executive action "null and void and without legal effect."³³ A February 2015 proposal by Rep. Trey Gowdy (R-SC) would strip funding for President Obama's immigration directives and allow states to suspend implementation of the programs.³⁴ And in March 2015, House Republican leaders tried unsuccessfully to stall the rollout of expanded DACA and DAPA by cutting funding for the U.S. Department of Homeland Security.³⁵

At the same time that congressional leaders are blocking progress, conservative state lawmakers have mounted legal challenges against President Obama's immigration directives in the federal court system. Immediately after the announcement of the deferred action programs in November 2014, a coalition of 17 states—now up to 26 states—filed a lawsuit requesting that U.S. District Judge Andrew Hanen from Texas block implementation of the executive actions.³⁶ Judge Hanen held in their favor and ordered the injunction, putting the implementation of DAPA and expansion of DACA on hold.³⁷ In November 2015, a federal appeals court based in New Orleans upheld the injunction from the lower court, dealing a major blow to immigrant advocates and mixed-status families across the nation.³⁸ The U.S. Department of Justice has since appealed this decision to the Supreme Court.³⁹

Pursuing restrictionist policies

In addition to obstructing progress on immigration reform, conservative lawmakers in Washington and the states have actively supported draconian policies that make life more difficult for the more than 11 million unauthorized immigrants living in the United States. These restrictionist measures would overtly target, criminalize, and threaten to deport millions of innocent immigrants who are living in the country, while giving them no opportunity to come forward and live within the law. Here is a snapshot of some of these restrictionist policies:

- Ending the practice of birthright citizenship: The topic of birthright citizenship has become a renewed focus of immigration opponents in Congress; conservative lawmakers recently proposed policies that challenge the constitutional provision in the 14th Amendment that guarantees citizenship for all individuals who are born on American soil.⁴⁰ Rep. Steve King (R-IA) and Sen. David Vitter (R-LA) have separately introduced legislation in this session of Congress to end the practice—and House Republicans followed their lead by hosting a Judiciary Committee hearing in April 2015 titled "Birthright Citizenship: Is It the Right Policy for America?"41 These efforts to repeal the birthright citizenship provision would undo a part of the U.S. Constitution—creating an explosion in the number of unauthorized immigrants along the way.⁴² According to a 2010 Migration Policy Institute study, eliminating birthright citizenship for children with at least one unauthorized parent would increase the unauthorized population to 24 million by 2050, making millions of children stateless.⁴³ Additionally, ending birthright citizenship would force all new parents to go through the long and cumbersome process of proving their children's citizenship, which could result in an effective birth tax of \$600 per child.⁴⁴ The guarantee of birthright citizenship has also faced challenges in the states. In October, a federal judge in Texas declined a request for a preliminary injunction to stop state officials from denying birth certificates to U.S.-born children of immigrants who are unable to supply certain forms of identification. While state officials do not have the legal authority to deny U.S. citizenship to children born in the country, refusing birth certificates to these children could deprive them of the rights and benefits that all citizens should enjoy.45
- Defunding so-called sanctuary cities: Conservative lawmakers in Congress and in local state governments are leading a recent wave of efforts to put an end to so-called sanctuary cities—cities with community trust policies that emphasize community safety and do not turn unauthorized immigrants over to federal immigration authorities for potential deportation proceedings.⁴⁶ Sen. Vitter recently introduced a bill that would punish these cities by cutting funding for critical law enforcement and economic development programs.⁴⁷ Stripping federal funding from states and cities that choose not to turn over unauthorized immigrants, however, could actually limit law enforcement agencies' ability to provide assistance and respond to crimes.⁴⁸ Senate Democrats stopped this bill from moving forward.⁴⁹ Unfortunately, similar anti-immigrant tactics have

emerged in state legislatures as well. At the end of September, North Carolina state lawmakers passed a bill prohibiting cities in the state from passing community trust policies or sanctuary city ordinances.⁵⁰

- **Criminalizing unauthorized immigrants:** Congressional hard-liners have proposed legislation that would turn millions of unauthorized immigrants into criminals overnight, simply by virtue of their lack of immigration status. The Michael Davis, Jr. in Honor of State and Local Law Enforcement Act, introduced by Rep. Gowdy in February 2015, would make being unauthorized a crime rather than a civil offense, which would require that the U.S. Department of Homeland Security detain any immigrant picked up by local authorities and put immigrants at higher risk of imprisonment and deportation.⁵¹ An analysis by the Center for American Progress, however, shows that a massive deportation strategy would only hurt the American economy. Deportation costs an average of \$10,070 per person—for a total of \$114 billion to remove the entire unauthorized population.⁵² Aside from the high costs to physically deport millions of individuals, mass deportation would devastate the national economy, threatening to shrink the labor force by 6.4 percent over two decades and decrease the U.S. GDP by up to \$1.6 trillion.⁵³
- Securing the American border with a wall: The idea of building a wall to secure the U.S. border has become a trademark of many anti-immigrant strategies. Conservatives in the House of Representatives introduced legislation in both 2014 and 2015 to enhance operational control and finish fencing off the southwest border of the United States.⁵⁴ But the conservative notion of needing to build a wall to fix supposedly lax border security is misleading. In fact, according to the measure of U.S. Border Patrol apprehensions, unauthorized immigration attempts on the southwest border have decreased 36 percent over the past two years.⁵⁵ Additionally, the U.S. government has been largely successful in militarizing the southern border, investing nearly \$18 billion in on-the-ground infrastructure, technology, and security measures in 2012, and successfully erecting nearly 650 miles of fencing on the U.S.-Mexico border.⁵⁶

Taken together, these policies amount to a costly strategy by conservative lawmakers that would make life harder for the millions of unauthorized immigrants living in this country today. Such piecemeal policies overtly target and criminalize large swaths of the immigrant population, while giving individuals no opportunity to come forward to live within the law.

Progressive solutions for immigration reform

It has now been two years since the Senate passed its bipartisan comprehensive immigration bill, yet the lives of millions of unauthorized immigrants still remain on hold. However, if progressive proposals for immigration reform become law, millions of these individuals would be on their way to permanent legal status and citizenship, and the U.S. economy would see huge gains.

Federal solutions

The benefits of comprehensive immigration reform, including granting legal status and a pathway to citizenship, are innumerable at both the state and national levels. Comprehensive immigration reform has obvious moral and social benefits: It would keep families from being torn apart and give immigrant families the opportunity to stay in their country of choice and become full and equal members of society. But in refusing to take up comprehensive immigration reform, Congress is not only harming these families, but also hurting the economic health of the United States. The economic and fiscal benefits of comprehensive immigration reform are numerous. For one, it would result in a significant increase in GDP adding \$1.2 trillion over 10 years, as well as a modest increase in job creation.⁵⁷

TABLE 1 Economic benefits of comprehensive immigration reform for states, over 10 years

	Cumulative increase	Cumulative increase in earnings of	Cumulative increase in earnings of	Average number of jobs created
State	in gross state product	state residents	undocumented workers	annually
Alabama	\$6,640,000,000	\$4,271,000,000	\$3,560,000,000	1,000
Arizona	\$23,100,000,000	\$15,300,000,000	\$12,700,000,000	3,400
Arkansas	\$4,200,000,000	\$2,500,000,000	\$2,100,000,000	600
California*	\$211,700,000,000	\$115,000,000,000	\$95,800,000,000	30,700
Colorado	\$15,800,000,000	\$9,100,000,000	\$7,600,000,000	2,300
Connecticut	\$12,100,000,000	\$6,800,000,000	\$5,700,000,000	1,800
Delaware	\$3,600,000,000	\$1,400,000,000	\$1,100,000,000	500

State	Cumulative increase in gross state product	Cumulative increase in earnings of state residents	Cumulative increase in earnings of undocumented workers	Average number of jobs created annually
Florida	\$55,300,000,000	\$37,800,000,000	\$31,500,000,000	8,000
Georgia	\$44,100,000,000	\$26,100,000,000	\$21,800,000,000	6,400
Hawaii	\$3,300,000,000	\$1,700,000,000	\$1,400,000,000	500
Idaho	\$1,500,000,000	\$958,000,000	\$798,000,000	200
Illinois*	\$39,300,000,000	\$21,000,000,000	\$17,500,000,000	5,700
Indiana	\$8,000,000,000	\$4,900,000,000	\$3,700,000,000	1,200
lowa	\$6,000,000,000	\$3,300,000,000	\$2,800,000,000	900
Kansas	\$4,900,000,000	\$2,700,000,000	\$2,200,000,000	700
Kentucky	\$5,100,000,000	\$3,000,000,000	\$2,500,000,000	700
Louisiana	\$5,700,000,000	\$2,500,000,000	\$2,100,000,000	800
Maryland	\$23,800,000,000	\$15,600,000,000	\$13,000,000,000	3,400
Massachusetts	\$19,100,000,000	\$10,700,000,000	\$8,900,000,000	2,800
Michigan	\$10,200,000,000	\$6,800,000,000	\$5,600,000,000	1,500
Minnesota*	\$6,400,000,000	\$3,700,000,000	\$3,100,000,000	900
Missouri	\$5,100,000,000	\$3,300,000,000	\$2,700,000,000	700
Nebraska*	\$3,000,000,000	\$1,600,000,000	\$1,400,000,000	400
Nevada	\$17,900,000,000	\$9,000,000,000	\$7,500,000,000	2,600
New Hampshire*	\$1,600,000,000	\$337,000,000	\$281,000,000	200
New Jersey	\$50,000,000,000	\$29,900,000,000	\$25,000,000,000	7,200
New Mexico	\$3,800,000,000	\$2,400,000,000	\$2,000,000,000	600
New York	\$58,700,000,000	\$28,000,000,000	\$23,400,000,000	8,500
North Carolina	\$34,700,000,000	\$19,300,000,000	\$16,100,000,000	5,000
Ohio	\$7,600,000,000	\$4,600,000,000	\$3,800,000,000	1,100
Oklahoma	\$4,600,000,000	\$3,100,000,000	\$2,600,000,000	700
Oregon	\$12,600,000,000	\$6,800,000,000	\$5,700,000,000	1,800
Pennsylvania	\$14,800,000,000	\$9,300,000,000	\$7,700,000,000	2,100
Rhode Island	\$2,000,000,000	\$1,200,000,000	\$1,000,000,000	300
South Carolina	\$5,800,000,000	\$3,400,000,000	\$2,900,000,000	800
Tennessee	\$10,200,000,000	\$5,800,000,000	\$4,800,000,000	1,500
Texas	\$144,600,000,000	\$74,700,000,000	\$62,200,000,000	21,000
Utah	\$8,600,000,000	\$4,600,000,000	\$3,800,000,000	1,200
Virginia*	\$16,300,000,000	\$9,600,000,000	\$8,000,000,000	2,400
Washington	\$21,300,000,000	\$12,500,000,000	\$10,400,000,000	3,000
Wisconsin*	\$6,100,000,000	\$3,700,000,000	\$3,100,000,000	900

Notes: The table includes only states for which data are available. Asterisks indicate that state data have been updated from Lynch and Oakford, "National and State-by-State Economic Benefits of Immigration Reform."

Source: Robert Lynch and Patrick Oakford, "National and State-by-State Economic Benefits of Immigration Reform" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/report/2013/05/17/63295/national-and-state-by-state-economic-benefits-of-immigration-reform/. The state calculations for benefits of comprehensive immigration reform are based off the following source: Jeffrey Passel and D'Vera Cohn, "Unauthorized Immigrant Population: National and State Trends, 2010" (Washington: Pew Hispanic Center, 2011), available at http://www.pewhispanic.org/files/reports/133.pdf. In the absence of action on comprehensive immigration reform, President Obama has made moves to fill the holes in the existing immigration system with the expansion of DACA and the creation of DAPA through executive action, announced in November 2014. DAPA would, on a case-by-case basis, grant temporary relief from deportation—or deferred action—and the ability to apply for work authorization to unauthorized individuals who have lived in the United States since 2010 and are parents of U.S. citizens or lawful permanent residents. Expanded DACA entails a similar case-by-case screening and granting of deferred action to people who came to the United States at a young age.⁵⁸ Through DAPA and expanded DACA, the Obama administration is exercising its prosecutorial discretion to focus enforcement efforts on high-priority cases, while creating a process for low-priority individuals to come forward and apply for this temporary relief.⁵⁹

Since DACA was initiated in 2012, hundreds of thousands of young adult immigrants have successfully become more integrated into the nation's economic and social institutions.⁶⁰ For example, 59 percent of DACA recipients obtained a new job, 57 percent obtained a driver's license, and 49 percent opened their first bank account.⁶¹ DAPA and DACA expansion would provide an additional 5.2 million eligible unauthorized immigrants reprieve from deportation and give them the ability to work legally on a temporary basis.⁶² At the national level, DACA, DAPA, and DACA expansion would create an average of 29,000 jobs annually over 10 years and provide an additional 3.7 million individuals with legal work permits.⁶³ Allowing these unauthorized immigrants to come off the economic sidelines to live and work without fear of deportation would have both economic and fiscal benefits.

TABLE 2

Economic benefits of DAPA, DACA, and DACA expansion for states and the District of Columbia, over 10 years

State	Cumulative increase in state GDP	Cumulative increase in earnings of all state residents	Cumulative increase in earnings of DAPA- and DACA- eligible workers	Average number of jobs created
Arizona	\$6,199,000,000	\$4,053,000,000	\$3,378,000,000	780
Arkansas	\$1,363,000,000	\$736,000,000	\$614,000,000	170
California	\$75,833,000,000	\$39,309,000,000	\$32,758,000,000	9,500
Colorado	\$3,332,000,000	\$2,062,000,000	\$1,719,000,000	420
Connecticut	\$2,914,000,000	\$1,466,000,000	\$1,221,000,000	370
Delaware	\$809,000,000	\$323,000,000	\$269,000,000	100
District of Columbia	\$938,000,000	\$246,000,000	\$205,000,000	120

State	Cumulative increase in state GDP	Cumulative increase in earnings of all state residents	Cumulative increase in earnings of DAPA- and DACA- eligible workers	Average number of jobs created
Florida	\$9,426,000,000	\$6,226,000,000	\$5,188,000,000	1,180
Georgia	\$7,561,000,000	\$4,290,000,000	\$3,575,000,000	950
Hawaii	\$276,000,000	\$136,000,000	\$114,000,000	35
Idaho	\$781,000,000	\$481,000,000	\$401,000,000	100
Illinois	\$14,779,000,000	\$7,981,000,000	\$6,651,000,000	1,850
Indiana	\$1,577,000,000	\$818,000,000	\$682,000,000	200
lowa	\$765,000,000	\$422,000,000	\$351,000,000	100
Kansas	\$2,094,000,000	\$1,086,000,000	\$905,000,000	260
Kentucky	\$357,000,000	\$209,000,000	\$175,000,000	45
Maryland	\$4,530,000,000	\$2,694,000,000	\$2,245,000,000	570
Massachusetts	\$3,305,000,000	\$1,749,000,000	\$1,457,000,000	410
Michigan	\$1,867,000,000	\$1,189,000,000	\$991,000,000	230
Minnesota	\$1,688,000,000	\$945,000,000	\$787,000,000	210
Nebraska	\$781,000,000	\$378,000,000	\$315,000,000	100
Nevada	\$2,549,000,000	\$1,374,000,000	\$1,145,000,000	320
New Jersey	\$11,979,000,000	\$6,433,000,000	\$5,361,000,000	1,500
New Mexico	\$1,112,000,000	\$670,000,000	\$559,000,000	140
New York	\$16,109,000,000	\$7,381,000,000	\$6,151,000,000	2,020
North Carolina	\$6,588,000,000	\$3,283,000,000	\$2,736,000,000	830
Ohio	\$1,570,000,000	\$837,000,000	\$697,000,000	200
Oklahoma	\$3,259,000,000	\$1,619,000,000	\$1,349,000,000	410
Oregon	\$2,879,000,000	\$1,515,000,000	\$1,263,000,000	360
Pennsylvania	\$2,006,000,000	\$1,219,000,000	\$1,016,000,000	250
Rhode Island	\$507,000,000	\$317,000,000	\$264,000,000	64
South Carolina	\$1,508,000,000	\$968,000,000	\$806,000,000	190
Tennessee	\$2,654,000,000	\$1,452,000,000	\$1,210,000,000	330
Texas	\$38,271,000,000	\$17,576,000,000	\$14,647,000,000	4,800
Utah	\$2,646,000,000	\$1,347,000,000	\$1,123,000,000	330
Virginia	\$4,199,000,000	\$2,642,000,000	\$2,202,000,000	530
Washington	\$3,986,000,000	\$2,244,000,000	\$1,870,000,000	500
Wisconsin	\$1,191,000,000	\$723,000,000	\$602,000,000	150

Note: The state DACA, DAPA, and DACA expansion calculations are based on more recent data on the state undocumented populations than the 2013 comprehensive immigration reform numbers in Figure 1.

Sources: Silva Mathema, "State-By-State Analysis of the Economic Impact of DACA, DAPA, and DACA Expansion," Center for American Progress, June 15, 2015, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/news/2015/06/15/114894/state-by-state-analysis-of-the-economic-impact-of-daca-dapa-and-daca-expansion/. For more information on the methodology used in this analysis, see Robert Lynch and Patrick Oakford, "The Economic Effects of Granting Legal Status and Citizenship to Undocumented Immigrants" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/report/2013/03/20/57351/ the-economic-effects-of-granting-legal-status-and-citizenship-to-undocumented-immigrants/.

.....

State progress

While congressional leadership remains staunchly opposed to immigration reform, states have countered this tide by establishing more welcoming laws that would help integrate immigrant residents into local communities. Examples of these pro-immigrant integration policies include, but are not limited to:⁶⁴

- **Community policing policies:** Community policing policies and trust laws refer to a broad set of initiatives taken up by several hundred local city and state governments across the country to place limits on the collaboration between local law enforcement and federal immigration authorities. These policies are intended to strengthen trust and encourage communication between local law enforcement and immigrant communities because immigrants may otherwise be reluctant to contact the police because of their immigration status.⁶⁵
- Access to driver's licenses: Increasingly, a number of states are providing opportunities for unauthorized immigrants to apply for driver's licenses, which would allow millions of people to work and drive safely and legally. Every state now permits applications from DACA recipients.⁶⁶ A smaller number of states welcome applications from all unauthorized immigrants.⁶⁷
- **Municipal identification card programs:** Several cities across the country allow residents, regardless of immigration status, to obtain municipal identity cards. These resident cards may not be used for federal purposes but can be used locally to access services from medical clinics, financial institutions, libraries, and a variety of city agencies.⁶⁸
- Education and tuition-equity laws: A federal law passed in 1996 restricts states' ability to allow unauthorized students access to postsecondary education benefits. But a number of states have increasingly countered this movement by offering higher education admission and in-state tuition to unauthorized students, starting with Texas in 2001.⁶⁹

State	Driver's licenses for DACA recipients	Driver's licenses for unauthorized immigrants*	In-state tuition	Financial aid
Alabama	v			
Alaska	 ✓ 			
Arizona	v			
Arkansas	 ✓ 			
California	~	~	v	v
Colorado	 ✓ 	 Image: A set of the set of the	✓	
Connecticut	~	~	v	
Delaware	~			
District of Columbia	~	 		
Florida	~			
Georgia	 ✓ 			
Hawaii	 			
Idaho	 Image: A start of the start of			
Illinois	 	~	 	 Image: A start of the start of
Indiana	 Image: A start of the start of			
lowa	 ✓ 			
Kansas	 Image: A start of the start of		~	
Kentucky	 			
Louisiana	 ✓ 			
Maine	 			
Maryland	 	v	v	
Massachusetts	 Image: A start of the start of			
Michigan	 Image: A start of the start of			
Minnesota	~		~	~
Mississippi	~			
Missouri	~			
Montana	 ✓ 			
Nebraska	 ✓ 		~	
Nevada	v	v		
New Hampshire	×			
New Jersey	v		v	
	-		-	

TABLE 3 Pro-immigrant laws in states, the District of Columbia, and Puerto Rico

State	Driver's licenses for DACA recipients	Driver's licenses for unauthorized immigrants*	In-state tuition	Financial aid
New Mexico	~	v	v	~
New York	 ✓ 		v	
North Carolina	~			
North Dakota	 ✓ 			
Ohio	 ✓ 			
Oklahoma	~			
Oregon	~	~	v	
Pennsylvania	~			
Puerto Rico	~	\checkmark		
Rhode Island	~			
South Carolina	 			
South Dakota	~			
Tennessee	 			
Texas	~		v	~
Utah	~	~	~	
Vermont	~	~		
Virginia	~			
Washington	~	v	v	~
West Virginia	✓			
Wisconsin	~			
Wyoming	~			

Sources: Karthick Ramakrishnan and Pratheepan Gulasekaram, "Understanding Immigration Federalism in the United States" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/report/2014/03/24/86207/understanding-immigration-federalism-in-the-united-states/; Silva Mathema, "Providing Identification to Unauthorized Immigrators" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/report/2015/11/24/126082/ providing-identification-to-unauthorized-immigrants/.

* These classes of driver's licenses differ by state. For more detailed information, see Mathema, "Providing Identification to Unauthorized Immigrants."

While Congress refuses to take up a comprehensive immigration reform bill and conservatives at every level of government enact policies that demonize the entire immigrant population, the lives of millions remain on hold at the same time that the United States forfeits huge economic gains. But there are commonsense policies to address these problems: From DAPA, DACA, and DACA expansion at the federal level to community policing programs, education-equity laws, and more at the state level, progressive immigration solutions would benefit all Americans.

Conclusion

The United States is a country built by immigrants. But the current immigration system has become too focused on aggressive deportation strategies, tearing families apart while forcing millions of immigrants to remain on the economic sidelines. Given the growing demographic and electoral power of immigrant communities, the actions of policymakers on immigration issues matter greatly, particularly as the 2016 election draws closer. The benefits of progressive immigration policies are clear: Implementing DAPA, DACA, and DACA expansion—as well as granting legal status and a pathway to citizenship for the millions of immigrants living in this country—would increase GDP, raise wages, and create jobs, all while preventing families from being torn apart. Yet conservative lawmakers in Washington and across the country continuously fail to act, instead doing all they can to thwart any progress on reforms and passing piecemeal laws that are aimed at demonizing the entire immigrant community. Every day that conservative lawmakers keep their backs turned on a rational path forward for immigration reform, the nation misses out on significant economic benefits, and the lives of millions of families remain on hold.

About the authors

Kristen Ellingboe is a Researcher for the Center for American Progress Action Fund War Room. Prior to joining CAP Action, she worked as field coordinator for State Sen. Tim Keller's (D-NM) re-election campaign and as an investigative journalist with the News Enterprise Program. Originally from Albuquerque, Ellingboe received a bachelor of arts in political science and journalism from Emory University. She also studied Spanish language in Salamanca, Spain, and throughout Nicaragua.

Anna Perina is the Special Assistant for the Center for American Progress Action Fund War Room. A native Washingtonian, Perina received her B.A. in foreign affairs and history from the University of Virginia. Prior to joining CAP Action, she interned in the Press Office of Sen. Kirsten E. Gillibrand (D-NY), at the political communications firm SKDKnickerbocker, and for Generation Progress in summer 2013. She also studied abroad in Rio de Janeiro.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Anna Chu, Angela Kelley, Tom Jawetz, Philip Wolgin, and Lizet Ocampo for their review and advice throughout the development of this report.

Endnotes

- 1 Rob Griffin, William H. Frey, and Ruy Teixeira, "The Demographic Evolution of the American Electorate, 1980-2060," Center for American Progress, February 24, 2015, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ progressive-movement/news/2015/02/24/107166/ interactive-the-demographic-evolution-of-the-american-electorate-1980-2060/.
- 2 Polling Report, "Immigration," available at http://www. pollingreport.com/immigration.htm (last accessed November 2015).
- 3 Migration Policy Institute, "Profile of the Unauthorized Population: United States," available at http://www. migrationpolicy.org/data/unauthorized-immigrantpopulation/state/US (last accessed November 2015).
- 4 Philip E. Wolgin, "2 Years Later, Immigrants Are Still Waiting on Immigration Reform," Center for American Progress, June 24, 2015, available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ news/2015/06/24/115835/2-years-later-immigrantsare-still-waiting-on-immigration-reform/; Alliance for Citizenship, "The 2015 GOP Mass Deportation Agenda" (2015), available at https://d3n8a8pro7vhmx. cloudfront.net/a4c/pages/31/attachments/original/1430246070/A4C_-_Mass_Deportation_Agenda_ Report.pdf?1430246070.
- 5 Joanna Dreby, "Executive Action on Immigration Will Help Children and Families," Center for American Progress, March 3, 2015, available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ news/2015/03/03/107769/executive-action-on-immigration-will-help-children-and-families/.
- 6 Joanna Dreby, "How Today's Immigration Enforcement Policies Impact Children, Families, and Communities" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/wpcontent/uploads/2012/08/DrebyImmigrationFamilies. pdf.
- 7 Dreby, "Executive Action on Immigration Will Help Children and Families."
- 8 Ibid.
- 9 U.S. Department of Homeland Security, 2013 Yearbook of Immigration Statistics (2014), available at http://www. dhs.gov/sites/default/files/publications/ois_yb_2013_0. pdf.
- 10 U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, "FY 2014 ICE Immigration Removals," available at https://www. ice.gov/removal-statistics (last accessed November 2015); Dreby, "Executive Action on Immigration Will Help Children and Families."
- 11 Paul Taylor and others, "Unauthorized Immigrants: Length of Residency, Patterns of Parenthood" (Washington: Pew Hispanic Center, 2011), available at http:// www.pewhispanic.org/files/2011/12/Unauthorized-Characteristics.pdf.
- 12 Jeffrey Passel and others, "As Growth Stalls, Unauthorized Immigrant Population Becomes More Settled" (Washington: Pew Hispanic Center, 2014), available at http://www.pewhispanic.org/2014/09/03/as-growthstalls-unauthorized-immigrant-population-becomesmore-settled/.

- 13 U.S. Department of State, Annual Report of Immigrant Visa Applicants in the Family-sponsored and Employment-based preferences Registered at the National Visa Center as of November 1, 2014 (2014), available at http://travel.state.gov/content/dam/visas/Statistics/ Immigrant-Statistics/WaitingListItem.pdf.
- 14 Seth Wessler, "Primary Data: Deportations of Parents of U.S. Citizen Kids," Colorlines, December 17, 2012, available at http://www.colorlines.com/articles/primarydata-deportations-parents-us-citizen-kids.
- 15 Seth Wessler, "Nearly 205K Deportations of Parents of U.S. Citizens in Just Over Two Years," Colorlines, December 17, 2012, available at http://www.colorlines.com/ articles/nearly-205k-deportations-parents-us-citizensjust-over-two-years.
- 16 Robert Lynch and Patrick Oakford, "The Economic Effects of Granting Legal Status and Citizenship to Undocumented Immigrants" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ report/2013/03/20/57351/the-economic-effects-ofgranting-legal-status-and-citizenship-to-undocumented-immigrants/.
- 17 Matthew Gardner, Sebastian Johnson, and Meg Wiehe, "Undocumented Immigrants' State & Local Tax Contributions" (Washington: Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2015), available at http://www.itep. org/pdf/undocumentedtaxes2015.pdf.
- 18 Lynch and Oakford, "The Economic Effects of Granting Legal Status and Citizenship to Undocumented Immigrants."

19 Ibid.

20 Ibid.

- 21 Silva Mathema, "Infographic: Inaction on Immigration Is Too Costly," Center for American Progress, April 9, 2015, available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ immigration/news/2015/04/09/110589/infographicinaction-on-immigration-is-too-costly/.
- 22 Adriana Kugler, Robert Lynch, and Patrick Oakford, "Improving Lives, Strengthening Finances: The Benefits of Immigration Reform to Social Security" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2013), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/ immigration/report/2013/06/14/66543/improvinglives-strengthening-finances-the-benefits-of-immigration-reform-to-social-security/; Robert Lynch and Patrick Oakford, "How Will Immigration Reform Impact the Medicare Trust Fund" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/report/2014/02/27/82121/how-will-immigration-reformimpact-the-medicare-trust-fund/.
- 23 Steven Dennis, "Immigration Bill Officially Dead: Boehner Tells Obama No Vote This Year, President Says," Roll Call Potus Operandi Blog, June 30, 2014, available at http://blogs.rollcall.com/white-house/immigrationbill-officially-dead-boehner-tells-obama-no-vote-thisyear/.
- 24 Karthick Ramakrishnan and Pratheepan Gulasekaram, "Understanding Immigration Federalism in the United States" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https://cdn.americanprogress.org/ wp-content/uploads/2014/03/Statelmmigrationreportv2.pdf.

- 25 Wolgin, "2 Years Later, Immigrants Are Still Waiting on Immigration Reform."
- 26 Dennis, "Immigration Bill Officially Dead."
- 27 Nicholas Fandos, "Paul Ryan Says He Won't Work with Obama on Immigration Reform," *The New York Times*, November 1, 2015, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2015/11/02/us/politics/paul-ryan-says-he-wontwork-with-obama-on-immigration-reform.html?_r=2.
- 28 Elaina Plott, "Paul Ryan Pledges: No Immigration Reform under Obama," *National Review*, October 27, 2015, available at http://www.nationalreview.com/ article/426097/paul-ryan-promises-no-immigrationreform-obama-administration.
- 29 Philip Wolgin, "The House's Newest Immigration Plan Is Mass Deportation,"ThinkProgress, March 17, 2015, available at http://thinkprogress.org/immigration-plan-comprehensive-mass-deportation/; House Judiciary Committee, "House Judiciary Committee Passes First Immigration Enforcement Bill," Press release, March 3, 2015, available at http://judiciary. house.gov/index.cfm/press-releases?id=F5AB795E-D739-49DB-9754-18CFD48F8C97; Anu Kumar, "House Judiciary Committee Signs Off On Two Bills Challenging Life For Immigrants," Generation Progress, March 24, 2015, available at http://genprogress.org/ voices/2015/03/24/35634/house-judiciary-committeesigns-off-on-two-bills-challenging-life-for-immigrants/.
- 30 U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services, "Executive Actions on Immigration," available at http://www.uscis. gov/immigrationaction (last accessed November 2015).
- 31 Michael D. Shear and Robert Pear, "Obama's Immigration Plan Could Shield Five Million," *The New York Times*, November 19, 2014, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2014/11/20/us/politics/obamacare-unlikely-forundocumented-immigrants.html?mtrref=undefined&a ssetType=nyt_now.
- 32 Tim Devaney, "House GOP pushing new immigration bills," The Hill, February 27, 2015, available at http:// thehill.com/regulation/administration/234137-housegop-pushing-new-immigration-bills.
- 33 Preventing Executive Overreach on Immigration Act, H.R. 5759, 114 Cong. 1 sess. (Government Printing Office, 2014), available at http://d35brb9zkkbdsd.cloudfront. net/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/H-R-5759-Amendment-12-2-14-Preventing-Executive-Overreach-on-Immigration-Act-of-2014.pdf.
- 34 Frank Camp, "Trey Gowdy Defies Obama Immigration Order With Introduction of His Own Bill," Independent Journal, February 2015, available at http://www. ijreview.com/2015/02/259910-trey-gowdy-defiesobama-taking-immigration-hands/; Chuck Ross, "Trey Gowdy Fights Back Against Obama's Amnesty With New Immigration Plan," The Daily Caller, February 27, 2015, available at http://dailycaller.com/2015/02/27/ trey-gowdy-bill-would-dismantle-obamas-annestyspeed-up-deportation-of-criminal-aliens/.
- 35 Gabrielle Levy, "Signs of Life for Immigration Reform," U.S. News & World Report, June 3, 2015, available at http://www.usnews.com/news/articles/2015/06/03/ signs-of-life-for-immigration-reform.
- 36 Catalina Camia, "Texas leads 17 states in suing Obama over immigration," USA Today, December 3, 2014, available at http://www.usatoday.com/story/news/ politics/2014/12/03/obama-immigration-lawsuit-texas/19851141/; David Leopold, "What happened to the lawsuit against Obama's immigration actions?", MSNBC, October 5, 2015, available at http://www.msnbc.com/ msnbc/whats-taking-the-5th-circuit-so-long-ruleobamas-immigration-executive-actions.

- 37 Theresa Cardinal Brown, "Immigration Executive Action Court Case Primer (Texas v. United States)," Bipartisan Policy Center, June 2, 2015, available at http://bipartisanpolicy.org/blog/immigration-executive-actioncourt-case-primer-texas-v-united-states/.
- 38 Texas v. United States, U.S. Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit, November 9, 2015, available at http://cdn.thinkprogress.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/11/10021724/5th-cir-Texas-v-US-merits. pdf.
- 39 Michael D. Shear, "Obama to Appeal Immigration Ruling to Supreme Court," *The New York Times*, November 10, 2015, available at http://www.nytimes. com/2015/11/11/us/politics/supreme-court-immigration-obama.html?_r=0.
- 40 Tom Jawetz and Sanam Malik, "Turning Our Backs on the 14th Amendment" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ report/2015/11/09/125182/turning-our-backs-on-the-14th-amendment/.
- 41 Elise Foley, "House Republicans Go After Birthright Citizenship," The Huffington Post, April 29, 2015, available at http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2015/04/29/ house-republicans-birthright-citizenship_n_7174866. html; House Judiciary Committee, Birthright Citizenship: Is It the Right Policy for America? (Government Printing Office, 2015), available at http://judiciary. house.gov/_cache/files/d4d230ee-7f0f-44b0-bdf4bbdfa564e085/114-21-94409.pdf.
- 42 Mark Noferi, "Ending Birthright Citizenship: (Still) Unconstitutional, Unwise, Unworkable, and Un-American," American Immigration Council, April 28, 2015, available at http://immigrationimpact.com/2015/04/28/endingbirthright-citizenship-still-unconstitutional-unwiseunworkable-and-un-american/.
- 43 Michael Fix, "Repealing Birthright Citizenship: The Unintended Consequences," Migration Policy Institute, August 2015, available at http://www.migrationpolicy. org/news/repealing-birthright-citizenship-unintendedconsequences.
- 44 Sam Fulwood III and Marshall Fitz, "Less than Citizens" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2011), available at https://www.americanprogress.org/ issues/immigration/news/2011/05/11/9690/less-thancitizens/.
- 45 Molly Hennessy-Fiske, "Judge: Texas can deny birth certificates for U.S.-born children of some immigrants," Los Angeles Times, October 16, 2015, available at http:// www.latimes.com/nation/nationnow/la-na-nn-texasimmigrant-birth-certificate-20151016-story.html.
- 46 City and County of San Francisco, "What is the Sanctuary Ordinance?", available at http://sfgsa.org/index. aspx?page=1067 (last accessed November 2015).
- 47 Jordan Carney, "Senate Dems block 'sanctuary cities' bill," The Hill, October 20, 2015, available at http:// thehill.com/blogs/floor-action/senate/257471-demsblock-sanctuary-cities-bill.
- 48 Esther Yu-Hsi Lee, "The Big Problem With The GOP's Crusade Against 'Sanctuary Cities," ThinkProgress, July 23, 2015, available at http://thinkprogress.org/immigration/2015/07/23/3683375/repub-bills-sanctuary-cities/.
- 49 CAP Action War Room, "The Donald Trump Act," Think-Progress, October 20, 2015, available at http://thinkprogress.org/progress-report/the-donald-trump-act.
- 50 Protect North Carolina Workers Act, H.B. 318/S.L. 2015-294, North Carolina General Assembly (2015).

- 51 Michael Davis, Jr. in Honor of State and Local Law Enforcement Act, H.R. 1148, 114 Cong. 1 sess. (Government Printing Office, 2015), available at https://www. congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/house-bill/1148.
- 52 Philip E. Wolgin, "What Would It Cost to Deport 11.3 Million Unauthorized Immigrants?", Center for American Progress, August 18, 2015, available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ news/2015/08/18/119474/what-would-it-cost-todeport-11-3-million-unauthorized-immigrants/.

53 Ibid.

- 54 Office of Rep. Ted Franks, "Franks Introduces National Border and Homeland Security Act," Press release, June 25, 2014, available at https://franks.house.gov/ press-release/franks-introduces-national-border-andhomeland-security-act; Secure Fence Restoration Act of 2015, H.R. 4034, 114 Cong. 1 sess. (Government Printing Office, 2015), available at https://www.congress.gov/ bill/114th-congress/house-bill/4034/text.
- 55 U.S. Department of Homeland Security, "Securing and Managing Our Borders," available at www.dhs.gov/ securing-and-managing-our-borders (last accessed December 2015).
- 56 Doris Meissner and others, "Immigration Enforcement in the United States: The Rise of a Formidable Machinery" (Washington: Migration Policy Institute, 2013), available at http://cdn.thinkprogress.org/wp-content/ uploads/2015/10/08171246/MPI-report-enforcementpillars.pdf.
- 57 Ibid.; Mathema, "Infographic: Inaction on Immigration Is Too Costly."
- 58 American Immigration Council, "A Guide to the Immigration Accountability Executive Action," available at http://www.immigrationpolicy.org/special-reports/ guide-immigration-accountability-executive-action (last accessed December 2015)
- 59 Marshal Fitz, "What the President Can Do on Immigration if Congress fails to Act" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ report/2014/07/01/93042/what-the-president-can-doon-immigration-if-congress-fails-to-act/.
- 60 Roberto G. Gonzales and Angie M. Bautista-Chavez, "Two Years and Counting: Assessing the Growing Power of DACA" (Washington: American Immigration Council, 2014), available at http://www.immigrationpolicy.org/ sites/default/files/docs/two_years_and_counting_assessing_the_growing_power_of_daca_final.pdf.

- 61 Ibid.
- 62 Migration Policy Institute, "Profile of the Unauthorized Population: United States."
- 63 Mathema, "Infographic: Inaction on Immigration Is Too Costly."
- 64 Ramakrishnan and Gulasekaram, "Understanding Immigration Federalism in the United States."
- 65 Lynne Tramonte, "Debunking the Myth of 'Sanctuary Cities" (Washington: Immigration Policy Center, 2011), available at http://www.immigrationpolicy.org/sites/ default/files/docs/Community_Policing_Policies_Protect_American_042611_update.pdf.
- 66 Griselda Nevarez, "Nebraska Ends Ban on Driver's Licenses for Young Immigrants," NBC News, May 28, 2015, available at http://www.nbcnews.com/news/ latino/nebraska-ends-ban-drivers-licenses-youngimmigrants-n366136.
- 67 Silva Mathema, "Providing Identification to Unauthorized Immigrants" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https:// www.americanprogress.org/issues/immigration/ report/2015/11/24/126082/providing-identification-tounauthorized-immigrants/; National Immigration Law Center, "State Driver's License Policies & DACA," available at https://www.nilc.org/dacadriverslicensestbl. html (last accessed November 2015).
- 68 Charles Posner and Lizet Ocampo, "Key Facts About Nevada Voting Demographics: How Changing Demographics and DAPA-Affected Voters Could Impact the 2016 Elections" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2015), available at https://www. americanprogressaction.org/issues/immigration/report/2015/12/07/126857.
- 69 National Immigration Law Center, "Basic Facts about In-State Tuition for Undocumented Immigrant Students," available at https://www.nilc.org/basic-facts-instate. html (last accessed November 2015).

Our Mission

The Center for American Progress Action Fund is an independent, nonpartisan policy institute and advocacy organization that is dedicated to improving the lives of all Americans, through bold, progressive ideas, as well as strong leadership and concerted action. Our aim is not just to change the conversation, but to change the country.

Our Values

As progressives, we believe America should be a land of boundless opportunity, where people can climb the ladder of economic mobility. We believe we owe it to future generations to protect the planet and promote peace and shared global prosperity.

And we believe an effective government can earn the trust of the American people, champion the common good over narrow self-interest, and harness the strength of our diversity.

Our Approach

We develop new policy ideas, challenge the media to cover the issues that truly matter, and shape the national debate. With policy teams in major issue areas, The Center for American Progress Action Fund can think creatively at the cross-section of traditional boundaries to develop ideas for policymakers that lead to real change. By employing an extensive communications and outreach effort that we adapt to a rapidly changing media landscape, we move our ideas aggressively in the national policy debate.

